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North West Wales Dendrochronology Project
16a & 18 Palace Street, Caernarfon

Adam Voelcker MA (Cantab) Dip Arch RIBA AABC IHBC
Pant Glas Uchaf, Pant Glas, Garmndolbenmaen, Gwynedd LL51 9DQ



North West Wales Dendrochronology Project

16a & 18 Palace Street, Caernarfon

Introduction

This report contains the results of a survey undertaken to complement the proposed
dating of timbers at 16a & 18 Palace Street, Caernarfon, as part of the North West
Wales Dendrochronology Project. The survey was undertaken on 2 February 2010
by Adam Voelcker. Documentary research will be undertaken by volunteers to
accompany this survey, and separate reports will be issued describing the results of
the documentary survey and of the dendrochronology sampling.

Site particulars

Site address
16a & 18 Palace Street, Caernarfon, Gwynedd LL55 1RR

NGR
SH 24785 36274

NPRN
16641

Listing status
Grade II*

Methodology

Only photos taken during inspection. Both houses were full of clutter, and parts
were unsafe. No electricity supply available.
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CAERNARVON IN 1610, according to John Speed
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Two contiguous properties, but always separate although noted togefher in the
Cacrns.lnv.(no.1115). No.18 has & timber frame, possibly late mediaeval, and

no.16a is a 17th century gddition.

The street frontage of both is 19th century, the walls of rendered rubble
with slate roofs. The shop window to no.i18 has a central cast=iron column undexr
the lintel, the window to no.i6a is modern. "ne first floor windows of no.18
are four-pane Victorian sashes, that to no.léa is & three-light Yorkshire sash.
The rear elevation faces into & yard, formerly known a8 Palace Street Court and
containing small cottages, ROW 1ined with modern sheds. The walls are of
rendered rubble masonry, and there is a large square projecting chimney stack
with a corbel in the N face. 'he doorway from the passage into the court is

probably 18th-19th century, and may have & reused lintel.

The interiors have heen heavily altered. No.18 has a cellar below the W bay,
reaéhed?%he tyice' stair noted in the Ilnventory: it is, however, of brick with
stone treads, and the peams over the cellar are probably 19th century. The
ground floor was formerly a paint shop, with a wide shop window to the street.
The ceiling is supported by cased beams, probably 19th century (one is bolted
to an earlier post). the N wall retains much of the timber framing. The & corner
post survives, with a tenon on the foot and a walile grocve indicating that
a socle-plate supported closed framing inside the present frontage. lhe head of
the post has beun cut off. i sole-plate on a high rubble plinth garries the
few remaining poriginal posts, oune of them considersbly narrowed (section cc),
and is nlsc notched for later light-weight studding. Mortices in the original
posts indicate‘cross—rails, put the framing pattern remains too incomplete for
satisfactory reconsiruction; there mag have been full-height narrow panels (as
st the Snowdon Vaults - see¢ Coerns..Inv.II p.118). The main cross—rail survives,
with peg-holed for gtudding above; however the exisiing studs are almost certainly
replaced or reget, sirce they are jointed into the modern wall-plate and have
a flush face to the inside rather than °9 the outside of the wall. Hoét\ff
the infill has gone, but there is sone (?) 19th century'horizontal boarding
in grooved in the edges of the posts, faced witﬁ_lath and plaster;’this replaces
watlle and daub set botween a groove in the lower plate and drill-holes in the
upper plate. The W surviving post is a bay—-post, with mortices for a continuation
of two oross-rails. It gumports o poltad-on 19th century ceiling-beam, and on
the 5 face 19 a goarfed and peyped plate with a joint for a misging ceiling
beam; this must be seconddry, since there is & mortice at a higher level for
an original crogs-beam in the oppoaite post. The S wall retains some shop
fitments. There 1s one priginal post remaining, its face tut back, It has o
shallow mortice and & peg, probably from the removed support for the secondary
nain beam: just above the modern floor-level iz the mortice for an originul
erouu-beam, W of the post the wall ig of brick sbove a tall stone plinth. LY

the W end 1s & tpll fized-lipht window with angled rovenls. The thick ¥ wall
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is af plastered rubble masonry, with a ?219th centvry dourwsy leading into a
modern store. A 19th century stair leads to the first floor, crossing a splayed
window. The first floor has a 19th century casl iron grate in a small projectiung
chimmey. The roof has been altered, so that the E half has the ridge parallel

to the street, One original truss remaing (sectiwn HB), a closed tie-beum truss
(pre ibly with a central open panel) on jowled wall-posts, with gtraight wind-
braces under the through murlins. There were two posts below the tie to a now-
miszing crosg-beam: ne detnils survive below the modern floor. lone of the

oripinal wall-plates remain.

No.16a, formerly = cobbler's shep, 18 roached from the passage into Palace
Stre.t Court. This passage is ovidently secqndary, since its S wall is of
light studding infilled with bpick and ‘lath-and-plaster which cuts across
an ogee-stopred ceiling beam. The N wall of the passage is of brick infilling
timber framing (gection pp); it is not clear how @uch of the framing is original,
apart froum the cross-rail and the central stud, The other ond of the ceiling
veam is tenoned through the timber-framed wall of no.18. Host of the joists
are 19th century. Thern is a 19th acentury fireplace with a cast iron range in
the W woll; a denp TrCcess adjacent way heve becn part of a widef original
fireplece., The corner of the E wall abuts the corner-post of no.18. A 19th
century stuir (now removed) led to the rirst f£loor, which oversails the passage.
It has an 18th-19th contury ceiling beam (small in gcantling with thin chumfers)
and conlemporary Joists, supported at one end by o poat resting on the ceiling
beam below and at the other und by a post under the tiw bean of the M truss.
There is o small cagement window in the W wall in a narrowed embrasure, and
a brick blogﬁgggyiﬂs%ﬁgegag%dg§ the chimney breast which supgests the location
of a reduced and then blocked fireplace. The N wall has a thin timber frame,
with fillets nailed to the posts to form grooved to take a boarded infill under
1pth-and-pluster. The attic has a modern roof-line parallel 1o the street.
In the N wall is the truss, nov redundant since the eaves have been raised. Tt
ig cloaed above a cranked #Fie~beam, and had wind-braces below the lower -
purlins. The 1ack of evidence for wallposts suggests that the outer walls

may have been of stone.

The building is evidently of several vhases of development. No.18 ig the
older, and probubly represents a two-unit structure with an open ‘hall’ (gble~
on to the street) and an inner roOm, posgibly storeyed, Helther gable wall
gurvives, and the position of the oripginul rear gable is uncertain. Yhe
remnining part of the ¥ wall shows no sign of dourways: the S wall has been

destroyed, but the plinth survives at the V cnd.
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41thougi: not implausibly tall for 5ts width (cf., Llai, BWC fig.38a), it would
have been a very small single-bay ond hall, comparable to the swaller rural
hallhouses further east and sonth-east but smaller that moat of the other halls
recopnised in towns in north Vales (see Table), and of a different character
from them. Of the eipht hall-houses in the Table, t+hree have the hall parallel
to the strect, and two had o cross-wing along the strecet facade. In no casc
was it certain that the rable of the hall sbutted the street. It therefore ceens
likaly that no.18 was in fact the crocs-wing to a nov-missing hall. The lack
of &dmsx doorways through the north wall implies that any midsing building van
sovthwards, and this is supported by the probable line of the mediaeval land-
divisionge.

Bur;gage plots in paomarfon are knowm to bave measured 60ft wide by 80ft deap

(Medineval Berouchs of snowdonia pa63). Superirposition of these 4imensicns on to

the medern map of the south end of Pulace Street {(tuking ito account Opeed's
map, which shows no houses fronting the castle ditch) indicates that the
brundary betwe.n two plots ran hetwsen Nnos. 18 and 16a. This makes it posgihle
that no.186 was a cross—wing on the northern edge of the burgage plot, with g
hall runsing southeards: it is ther fore of ereat interest that Speed dfaws
precisely that on the southernmost plot in Palace Street.

mhe dating of the building 50 almogt impossible to agcertain, since there ure
no decorative details .nd the frming style is not distinctive. The only clue
ig an unuzual X-halving Jointing under fhn tie-beam: a sinilar Jjoint was secn
on a roused timber at the 17th century pem 2t Bryniau (Llanbedr—y—Cennin).

Innocent (En~lish i td ng ConstructiigJPiZZustrates an identical joint from

216th C houses npdr Shefield: Hevett (Enclish Cathedral & Monastic Carceriny
fig.257) has anotl¥er from Lichfield Cathedral (c.1665). It ceems to be a logical -
extension of a tap-dovetail (Uewett, Developuent of English Carpentry figs 94-5)
dated before the 15th century, 5o may be 15%h-16th century in date. The structure
ast, which was ceiled at a later date with beams tenomned

had an open bay o the e
inteo plates scarfed to the posts: this ceiling was raised in the 19th century

ggﬁnthe rresent Floor-beams were pub in.

Lo.16a is a later addition; the axial ceiling beam is tononed through the timber-
Pramed woll of no.18, and the front wall is butted against it, However ‘here are
problems about its character. Yne ground floor ceiling beam is 17th century in
date, and the rear chimney could well be contemporary. The truss above the north
uall could be 16th century. However the first floor ceiling beam and the infill

below the trusas are of n later date, probably 18th century, and the trugss scemd

to relate to a stone walled building rather than one framed in timber. S0 it is .

pogsible that no.lba was originally a single storeyed unit with a rear chimncy,

perhaps f?th—century infill betwe earl er structures to either side, which wasg

reised together with the stone~walled no.16 to two-und—a~half storeys in the

a 3 st I i od s Tre
18th century, %= former intermediate truvses above no.16 being moved to the yresent

same tiwe, e, the passage 1O Paloce

party wgall. At the ¢

5

gtrect Court wad



'| | Ecel.
PARISH .11 vescrmrernsestsnies msmmrsmssssisraassssessssssas ssnieas
s NAME |  Quarter LGt
CLASS | GR
N | sheet of OS MAP nora| OS Ref. RCAM
6-inch or 1:10000 series
CO | od Iav. No, Naw [ ] [ ]
County l
I serioy

-4 =

constructed and the present elevatien formed.

P4BLE — dimensions of uvrban hall-houses in WJdiales

lame Hall Wing
L W Pay-length L W
?7-31 Vale St - 4.8m 3.5m - ~
(Ruthin)*
Gorphwysfa, Castle -  4.0m Fedm  6.09m  3.5m

gt (Ruthin)+
9 Town Hill

(Wrexham)* 8.0m 5.0m 4.0p 6.2m  5.0m

Tudor Rose

(Beoumaris )#* 8.2m 5.5m 4.1m - 7.0m

Snowdon Vaults

(Cacrnayfon)##s - 4. 3 .5m - -

0ld Ship

(Ruthin)* S.0m 6.0m 4..0m - -

Henblas

(Beaumarisg ) 11.0p 6.Bm - (1;10.2 5.6m
(2) 10,8 6.2m

Eishop's Palace
(Bangor ) **+* 13.7m 6.Tn 3 .4m 9.2m  6.7m

Sources - * NMR
#* Anglesey Inventory
*## Cpernarvon Inventory

AJP
14.1.91

Bay-length

2.

3um

4.2211

Notes

Inner room in
line

?H-plan

{wing later)
(ving later)
(fracmont)

% units in line

H=plan



References

Cadw listing description
Record No. 3914 (see Appendix)

RCAHMW Caernarvonshire Inventory
Vol.ll. Entry no.1115 (p.157) (1949)

‘NOS.16a and 18, PALACE STREET. A much altered early 17"-century
building with a stone vice beside the fireplace down to the cellar, the upper
part of the stair being in wood. No other old features are visible.’

Sources of information at the NMRW, Aberystwyth

¢ Dblock plan (Catalogue No. 11700)
¢ notes and drawings by A J Parkinson, 1991 (ref?)
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Plate . upper floor of No.18, looking into No.16a
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Plate 5 attic floor of No.16a, truss in north wall (front




Plate 6 attic floor of No.16a, truss in north wall (centre)
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16a

rear of No

Plate 7
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Authority Gwynedd Record No 3914

DateListed 31/03/1983
Comununity Caernarfon Date Amended  03/05/2002
Locality Walled town Grid Ref 247850 362740
Postcode LL55 IRR Grade 1I
Name
Street No, Name 16a Palace Street
Street Side w
Location .

In a row of frontages near the S end of the street.

History

A small single-unit C17 house incorporating a passage to a court at the rear. The front wall was raised
and a shop front with sash windows created in the late C19, perhaps when it was converted to
commercial use. It was a watchmaker's shop in 1895.

Exterior

A 2-storey house of scribed roughcaét walls and slate roof with added skylight. A panelled door is to the
R, leading to an original passage, and a renewed horizontal sliding sash window is to the L. A similar

sash window is in the upper storey.

The pebble-dashed rear has a large external stack partly taken down and capped. The passage is onits L
side, above which is a 2-light casement.

Interior

The passage has a timber-framed partition with brick nogging. The roof retains a single queen-post truss
abuiting No 16. A lath and plaster partition is between the upper storeys of Nos 16a and 18, while in the
lower storey a timber-framed partition is on a stone sill with sill beam, and retains wooden boarding.

Listed

Listed as one of the few buildings in the walled town retaining vernacular detail from before the
substantial redevelopment of Caernarfon beginning in the late C18, and for its contribution to the historic

integrity of the walled town.

Reference

Gwynedd Record Office, XM maps 1398/1, plan of Caernarfon, 1810;
Slater's Directory of North Wales, 1895, p 124;
Wood, John, Plan of the Town of Caernarvon, 1834.

Listings Schedule Page 41
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Authority Gwynedd Record No 3915
DatelListed 31/03/1983

Community Caernarfon Date Amended 03/05/2002',
Locality Walled town Grid Ref 247850 362740
Postcode LLS5 1RR Grade II

Name

Street No, Name 18 Palace Street

Street Side w

Location N

In a row of frontages near the S end of the sireet.

History

A small C17 house, probably originally with its gable end facing the street. It was converted to business
premises in the C19 and by 1888 it was the Bardsey Inn. The present front, with roof higher and at right
angles to the original, is probably early C20, when the building is said to have had a recessed shop front.
The fagade was completed in its present form in the mid C20. The form of the original building survives
as a lower rear wing.

Exterior

A 2-storey house set forward from 16a Palace Street, of scribed roughcast brick front and slate roof. The
shop front has a half-lit panelled door to the R and a shop window with wooden muilions. The doorway
and window are framed by panelled pilasters, plain fascia, and dentilled cornice. In the upper storey are
2 early C20 4-pane sash windows. The pebble-dashed rear has a lower wing with brick end stack, and a
later monopitched projection. .

Interior

A stone winding stair leads to a cellar. The wooden stair to the upper storey is C19. In the upper storey
of the rear wing is a single surviving C17 queen-post truss with plaster infill. A lath and plaster partition
is between the upper storeys of Nos 16a and 18, while in the lower storey a timber-framed partition is on
a stone sill with sill beam, and retaing wooden boarding.

Listed

Listed as one of the few buildings in the walled town retaining vernacular detail from before the
substantial redevelopment of Caernarfon beginning in the late C18, and for its contribution to the historic
integrity of the walled town.

Reference

Gwynedd Record Office, XM maps 1398/1, plan of Caernarfon, 1810;
Ordnance Survey, Carnarvon town sheet XV.4.13, 1888, scale 1:500;
Slater's Directory of North Wales, 1895, p 124;

Information from owner.

Listings Schedule Page 42
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LIST OF PHOTOGRAPHS INCLUDED ON CD (see marked-up plan)

001
002
003
004
005
006
007
008
009
010
011
012
013
014
015
016
017

Exterior, rear (Plate 7)

ditto

ground floor wall between Nos.16a &18, from No.18 looking towards rear
ditto, viewed from passage of No.16a

ground floor wall between Nos. 16a &18, from No. 18 looking towards front
upper floor of No.18, south end of truss

ditto, north end of truss (Plate 1)

ditto, south end of truss (higher level) (Plate 2)

ditto, north end of truss (higher level) (Plate 3)

upper floor, wall between Nos.16a & 18, from 16a looking towards rear
upper floor, north wall of No.16a

ditto, viewed towards rear

upper floor, post below truss, south end detail

attic level, truss in north walil of No.16a (Plate 4)

ditto (Plate 5)

ditto (Plate 6)

Exterior, front (on Palace Street) (cover)
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